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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of Interstate Bank
OPINION
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Interstate Bank (the "Bank", registered by the
Moscow Registration Chamber on 24 March 1994, certificate No030.977, OGRN 1027739567228, 115162,
Moscow, Shukhova str., 15) which comprise:

Statement of Comprehensive Income for 2021;

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021;

Statement of Changes in Equity for 2021;

Statement of Cash Flows for 2021;

Notes to the financial statements with a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Interstate Bank as at 31 December 2021, its financial performance and its cash flows for 2021 in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the Independence Rules of Auditors
and Audit Firms and with the Code of Professional Ethics of Auditors that complies with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including international standards
on independence) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements of the professional ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
Allowance for expected credit losses - note 6 to the financial statements
In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Statements, the Bank applies, for the purposes of
making allowances for financial instruments, an expected credit loss model which is based on increase or
decrease in credit quality of financial instruments with help of current and forward-looking information. The Bank
assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses for debt financial assets at amortised cost and at
fair value through other comprehensive income and for the exposures arising from loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts.
We regard this matter as key due to the uncertain nature of impairment measurement.
Our audit procedures comprised: assessing the Bank's approaches and models on impairment measurement of
financial instruments with regard to its compliance with the requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; testing
of controls for timely classification of financial assets into relevant credit risk stages; sampling testing of allowance
calculation; testing whether disclosures are sufficient with regard to calculation of expected credit losses made by

Translation of an official Russian version of the auditor’s report issued on 14 February 2022.

the Bank in the notes to the financial statements; overall reasonableness of the Bank's forecasts under the
economic uncertainty related to COVID-19.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - note 13 to the financial statements.
Financial markets are exposed to various external and internal factors and are volatile, thus the measurement of
financial instruments may significantly influence the Bank's financial performance and financial position.
We regard this matter as key due to material investments in financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income and to existence of assumptions on fair value measurement of financial instruments.
Our audit procedures comprised: assessing and sample testing of controls used by the Bank related to data used
for fair value measurement of financial instruments; examining of the Bank's internal documents related to the
measurement techniques and their compliance to the IFRS requirements; sample testing of financial instruments
with regard to the used models of current fair value measurement; testing whether the disclosures in the financial
statements are sufficient with regard to fair value of financial instruments.
OTHER INFORMATION
The financial statements of the Bank for the previous period of 2020 were audited by another auditor who issued
an unqualified audit opinion on those financial statements on 15 February 2021.
MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of the internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
internal control of the Bank.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management of the Bank.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that

may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements, or if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, further events or conditions may
cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with management of the Bank regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
We also provide management of the Bank with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonable be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with management of the Bank, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Person acting on behalf of the audit firm
on the basis of power of attorney No OB/10122/22-FE-2
of 1 January 2022 valid through 30 June 2022;
manager on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's
report (ORNZ 22006050917)

Audit firm:
Limited Liability Company FinExpertiza
OGRN 1027739127734,
Moscow, ul. Krasonproletarskaya, 16 bld 1, floor 6, premises I, office 29,
a member of self-regulatory organization of auditors Association "Sodruzhestvo" (SRP AAS),
ORNZ 12006017998

14 February 2022

Ms. Natalia Borzova

Interstate Bank
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
(in thousands of Russian rubles unless otherwise stated)

Statement of comprehensive income
Note

2021

2020

Interest income

5

894,703

736,807

Interest expenses

5

(26,803)

(5,170)

867,900

731,637

248

98

868,148

731,735

Gains less losses arising from transactions with financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income

15,100

(86)

Gains less losses arising from operations with foreign currency and derivative
financial instruments

21,103

16,606

Net result arising from revaluation of foreign currency

(2,292)

6,238

Net interest income
Change in allowance for expected credit losses on interest-bearing assets

6

Net interest income after allowance for expected credit losses

Fee and commission income

7

4,385

3,936

Fee and commission expenses

7

(4,584)

(4,359)

Other operating income

8

833

4,133

Operating expenses

9

(459,359)

(399,652)

443,334

358,551

(3,011)

(1,177)

440,323

357,374

Change in the fair value of financial assets through other comprehensive income

(584,211)

10,308

Total other comprehensive income

(584,211)

10,308

COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) / INCOME

(143,888)

367,682

Profit before tax
Income tax
NET PROFIT
Other comprehensive income

Signed on 11 February 2022.

President

N.V. Gavrilov

Chief Accountant

L.K. Razdevilova

Notes 1-27 constitute an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
(in thousands of Russian rubles unless otherwise stated)

Statement of financial position
Note

31 December
2021

31 December
2020

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

10

879,857

462,676

Due from financial institutions

11

11,067,816

9,602,015

Loans and advances to customers

12

532

4,236

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

13

7,324,793

6,701,918

Fixed assets and intangible assets

14

60,378

45,527

Right-of-use assets

15

114,395

6,548

Other assets

16

22,197

20,458

19,469,968

16,843,378

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Due to financial institutions

17

2,271,902

1,415,720

Due to customers

18

10,243,324

8,385,582

Lease liabilities

15

96,179

6,601

Other liabilities

19

12,320

14,568

12,623,725

9,822,471

Total liabilities
EQUITY
Authorized capital / Paid-in shares

20

212,086

212,086

Shares in authorized capital reacquired from members

20

(1,100)

(1,100)

Revaluation reserve for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

(290,281)

293,930

Other equity instruments

2,052,230

2,052,230

4,873,308

4,463,761

6,846,243

7,020,907

19,469,968

16,843,378

Retained earnings

21

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

Signed on 11 February 2022.

President

N.V. Gavrilov

Chief Accountant

L.K. Razdevilova

Notes 1-27 constitute an integral part of these financial statements.
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Interstate Bank
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
(in thousands of Russian rubles unless otherwise stated)

Total equity

Retained earnings

Other equity instruments

Revaluation reserve for
financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

Shares in authorized
capital reacquired from
members

Authorized capital / Paidin shares

Statement of changes in equity

Balance as at 1 January 2020

212,086

(1,100)

283,622

2,052,230

4,137,163

6,684,001

Comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2020

-

-

10,308

-

357,374

367,682

-

-

-

-

(30,776)

(30,776)

Balance as at 31 December 2020

212,086

(1,100)

293,930

2,052,230

4,463,761

7,020,907

Comprehensive (loss) / income for
the year ended 31 December 2021

-

-

(584,211)

-

440,323

(143,888)

-

-

-

-

(30,776)

(30,776)

212,086

(1,100)

(290,281)

2,052,230

4,873,308

6,846,243

Amounts paid on perpetual
subordinated debt

Amounts paid on perpetual
subordinated debt
Balance as at 31 December 2021

Signed on 11 February 2022.

President

N.V. Gavrilov

Chief Accountant

L.K. Razdevilova

Notes 1-27 constitute an integral part of these financial statements.
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Interstate Bank
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
(in thousands of Russian rubles unless otherwise stated)

Statement of cash flows
2021

2020

Interest received

900,302

759,043

Interest paid

(22,563)

(5,008)

Cash flows from operating activities

Fee and commission received

4,385

3,936

Fee and commission paid

(4,584)

(4,359)

Gains arising from operations with foreign currency and derivatives

21,103

16,606

533

557

(447,719)

(383,613)

(4,240)

(165)

447,217

386,997

(1,462,629)

(2,725,440)

3,704

2,518

(1,739)

2,180

856,182

(177,810)

1,857,742

2,738,156

1,010

608

1,701,487

227,209

(2,669,635)

(1,452,014)

1,466,113

1,202,059

Dividends received from investment securities

300

300

Purchase of fixed assets and intangible assets

(24,124)

(5,034)

Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets

1,035

3,465

Net cash used in investing activities

(1,226,311)

(251,224)

Interest paid on perpetual subordinated debt

(30,776)

(30,776)

Repayment of lease liabilities

(24,907)

(3,098)

Net cash used in financial activities

(55,683)

(33,874)

(2,312)

6,247

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

417,181

(51,642)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period

462,676

514,318

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

879,857

462,676

Other operating income
Operating expenses paid
Interest expenses paid on the lease liabilities
Cash flows received from operating activities before changes in operating
assets and liabilities
Net (increase) in due from financial institutions
Net decrease in loans and advances to customers
Net (increase) / decrease in other assets
Net increase / (decrease) in due to financial institutions
Net increase in due to customers
Net increase in other liabilities
Net cash received from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Cash flows from financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Signed on 11 February 2022.
President

N.V. Gavrilov

Chief Accountant

L.K. Razdevilova

Notes 1-27 constitute an integral part of these financial statements.
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Interstate Bank
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
(in thousands of Russian rubles unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Financial Statements
1

Principal Activities

The Interstate Bank (hereinafter: the Bank) was established in 1993.
The Bank is an international settlement and financial institution existing and operating in accordance with the provisions of the
international public law. The Bank engages in operations in the territory of the states that are parties to the Agreement on
Foundation of the Interstate Bank dated 22 January 1993 (hereinafter: the Agreement), on the basis of agreements with the
governments and central (national) banks of such states.
The Bank’s members are the Republic of Armenia, the Republic of Belarus, the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic,
the Republic of Moldova, the Russian Federation, the Republic of Tajikistan, and Turkmenistan.
Pursuant to the Agreement, the Bank’s main functions are:
- arrangement of multilateral interstate settlements in trade and other operations;
- provision of assistance for effective and reliable functioning of payment systems in all member states;
- provision of short-term loans to central (national) banks;
- research and analysis of the economies of the states that are parties to the Agreement, elaboration of recommendations
and proposals for the central (national) banks regarding the coordination of their monetary and foreign exchange policies;
- other banking operations consistent with the Bank’s objectives and goals arising out of the Agreement and the Bank’s
Charter.
The Bank operates in the Russian Federation in accordance with the Agreement between the Government of the Russian
Federation and the Interstate Bank on the Terms of the Interstate Bank presence in the territory of the Russian Federation
dated 30 July 1996 and in accordance with the Agreement between the Bank and the Central Bank of the Russian Federation
“On the Procedure for and Rules of Conducting by the Interstate Bank of Banking Activities in the Territory of the Russian
Federation” dated 2 December 1996. Pursuant to the said Agreements, the Bank is exempt from taxes, duties and other
mandatory charges payable in the territory of the Russian Federation and is authorized to engage in banking activities in the
Russian Federation without a license from the Bank of Russia. In accordance with the Agreement between the Bank and the
Central Bank of the Russian Federation “On the Procedure for and Rules of Conducting by the Interstate Bank of Banking
Activities in the Territory of the Russian Federation” dated 2 December 1996, the Bank is exempt from certain requirements of
the federal laws of the Russian Federation “On the Central Bank of the Russian Federation (Bank of Russia)” and “On Banks
and Banking Activity”, in particular, to provisions regarding bank regulation and banking supervision.
In accordance with the Agreement between the Bank and the Bank of Russia dated 2 December 1996 the Bank is authorized
to sell and buy government securities and precious metals, engage in deposit banking, issue guarantees and sureties, make
transactions with financial instruments, open accounts with Russian and foreign financial institutions and conduct other
banking operations.
The Bank has no branches in the Russian Federation or abroad. The Bank has representative offices in the Republic of
Armenia, the Republic of Belarus, and the Kyrgyz Republic.
The main types of banking transactions conducted by the Bank are as follows: settlement transactions, foreign exchange
operations, transactions with securities.
The supreme governing body is the Council of the Bank. In accordance with the decision of the Council of the Bank dated 2
December 2021 Yerbolat Dossaev, Chairman of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan, was elected Chairman of
the Council.
The Bank’s principal place of business is Moscow.
The Bank’s headquarters are at: 15, Shukhova St. Moscow 115162, Russian Federation.
The credit ratings assigned to the Bank are as follows: BB+ with a stable outlook from Fitch Ratings; BBB+ with a stable
outlook under international scale and AA+(RU) with a stable outlook under national scale from ACRA.

2

The Bank’s Economic Environment

Being an international organization, the Bank operates primarily in the Russian Federation.
In 2021, the Russian economy started to recover after COVID-19 pandemic primarily due to increased private consumption
and state investments. The recovery was also supported by rehabilitation of the global economy and high prices at
international commodity markets. However, prices at certain markets in Russia and worldwide are growing in response to the
economic recovery, which contributes to escalation of inflation in the Russian Federation.
At the same time as at 31 December 2021 the infection level in the Russian Federation remains high and vaccination rates
are relatively low so there is still the risk that the additional restrictions may be introduced in the Russian Federation.
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Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
(in thousands of Russian rubles unless otherwise stated)

2

The Bank’s Economic Environment (continued)

The above changes in the economic environment did not have significant impact on the Bank’s operations and financial
position as at the reporting date. The Management is taking all necessary measures to ensure sustainability of the Bank’s
business.

3

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
including all earlier adopted IFRS and SIC and IFRIC interpretations. The Bank maintains accounting procedures and
prepares accounting statements in accordance with the requirements of the laws applicable in the country of its residence.
These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting statements subject to adjustments and reclassification of items necessary to bring them in line with IFRS. The accounting policy principles used for the preparation of
these financial statements are described below. The said principles have been applied on a consistent basis to all the periods
presented in the statements (unless otherwise stated).
The management has prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis. See Note 27 “Effect of estimates and
judgments on recognized assets and liabilities”.
The financial statements are presented in the national currency of the Russian Federation – the Russian ruble (RUB) - which
is the Bank’s functional currency and the presentation currency. Unless otherwise stated, the amounts disclosed in the
financial statements are given in thousands of Russian rubles.
Changes in accounting policy and presentation. The accounting policy and calculation methods employed in preparing these
financial statements conform to the accounting policy and methods used and described in the Bank’s annual financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2020, except for the changes related to the introduction of new and/or revised
standards and interpretations as at 1 January 2021.
The following are new and revised standards and interpretations, that are not yet effective as at 31 December 2021 and have
not been adopted by the Bank for early application.
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The new
standard establishes the principles of recognition, valuation, presentation and disclosure of insurance policies and replaces
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. This standard provides for a general model modified under insurance contracts with direct
participation components described as variable premium contracts.
The general model is presented in simplified form, subject to certain criteria, through the valuation of liabilities for the
remaining insurance coverage, employing the insurance premium distribution approach. The general model will use current
assumptions to estimate the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows, and will separately measure the value of
such uncertainty; the model considers market interest rates and the impact of insurance holder options and guarantees. Profit
from insurance policy sales is deferred to future periods in a separate liability component on day one and aggregated into
groups of insurance contracts; it is then recognized systematically in the profit and loss statement during the period in which
insurers provide insurance coverage, adjusting for changes in assumptions regarding future insurance coverage.
The standard is applied retrospectively, except where this is not feasible, whereby a modified retrospective or fair value
approach is applied.
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and an amendment to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The amendments include a number of clarifications intended to ease
implementation of IFRS 17, simplify some requirements of the standard and transition. The amendments relate to eight areas
of IFRS 17, and they are not intended to change the fundamental principles of the standard. Amendment to IFRS 4 relates to
the extension of the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9.
Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures (effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined by the IASB, early adoption is permitted).
The amendments clarify that profit or loss shall be recognized in full should the assets transferred to an associate or joint
venture constitute a business as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Profit or loss from sale or contribution of assets
that do not constitute a business shall be recognized only within the limits of the investor's non-ownership interest in the
associate or joint venture.
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3

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Classifications of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current - Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
(effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).
These amendments make changes to the definition of current and non-current liabilities.
Basic principles provided in these amendments are as follows:
• Liabilities are classified as non-current if the entity has a right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting date. The focus is on the entity’s rights to defer settlement rather than the lender’s rights to demand repayment
of the debt.
• Liabilities are classified on the basis of existing right rather than actual intentions and expectations of the management as to
whether they will exercise this right.
• The right to defer only exists if the entity complies with certain conditions as of the end of the reporting period. A liability is
classified as current if a condition is breached at or before the reporting date if a waiver of that condition is obtained from the
lender after the end of the reporting period.
• ‘Settlement’ is defined as the extinguishment of a liability with cash, other resources embodying economic benefits or an
entity’s own equity instruments. The standards contain additional provisions on convertible instruments.
The amendments to IAS 1 issued in January 2020 were originally effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022. However, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the effective date was deferred by one year.
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgments) (effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).
The amendments are intended to help preparers in deciding which accounting policies to disclose in their financial
statements.
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023).
The amendments clarify how companies account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning
obligations.
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022).
Annual Improvements are amendments that clarify the wording or eliminate minor inconsistences, omissions and
contradictions between the requirements in the standards.
Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“10 per cent test” for derecognition of financial liabilities)
In determining whether to derecognise a financial liability that has been modified or exchanged, an entity assesses whether
the terms are substantially different, applying criteria of 10 per cent.
Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
The amendments extend the exemption permitted by paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation
differences in the financial statements of a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter of IFRS Standards later than its
parent.
Thus, a subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards will measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the parent, based on the parent’s
date of transition to IFRSs. This exemption is provided so that a subsidiary would not have to keep two parallel sets of
accounting records based on different dates of transition to IFRSs. This proposed amendment would also apply to an
associate or joint venture that elects to apply the mentioned exemption of IFRS 1.
Amendments to IAS 41 Agriculture (taxation in fair value measurements)
The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 Agriculture to exclude cash flows for taxation when
measuring fair value applying IAS 41. This amendment is intended to align with the requirement in the standard to discount
cash flows on a post-tax basis.
Unless otherwise stated above the Bank does not expect these new and revised standards and interpretations to have any
material impact on the Bank’s financial statements.
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4

Principles of Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are described below. The Bank has
consistently applied these accounting policies in all reporting periods shown in these annual financial statements.
4.1. Financial Instruments
Depending on the classification, financial instruments are reported at fair value or at amortized cost as described below.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction bet ween
market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurement is based on the assumption that the sale of an asset
or transfer of a liability occurs either in the principal market for the given asset or liability, or in the absence of the principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. Fair value represents the current bid price of financial
assets, the asking price of financial liabilities and the average of current bid and ask prices when the Bank holds both a shortterm and a long-term position for a financial instrument. A quoted price in an active market provides the most reliable
evidence of fair value. An active market is a market in which transactions for the instrument take place with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
The Bank categorizes information used to determine the fair value of a financial instrument depending on the significance of
inputs used in valuation, as follows:
- current prices quoted in the active market for financial instruments identical to the financial instrument under valuation
(Level 1 inputs);
- if no information on current quoted prices is available, the price of the most recent transaction closed in the active market,
provided there have been no significant changes in the economic circumstances between the date of the transaction and the
end of the reporting period, or current quoted prices for similar financial instruments if the conditions have changed since the
date of transaction, as well as information derived from observable market data (Level 2 inputs);
- prices calculated using valuation techniques with unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs).
Amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for
any loss allowance.
The effective interest method is the method that is used in the calculation of the amortized cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and in the allocation and recognition of the interest revenue or interest expense in profit or loss over the
relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or amortised
cost of a financial liability.
When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank shall estimate future cash flows by considering all the contractual terms
of the financial instrument (for example, early redemption), but shall not consider the credit losses. For credit-impaired
financial assets, effective interest rate is adjusted for credit risk, which includes expected credit losses on estimated future
cash flows.
4.2. Initial recognition and classification of financial instruments
A financial asset or liability is initially recognized at fair value plus, for an instrument not measured at fair value through profit
or loss, any transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. The best evidence of fair value at initial
recognition is the transaction price. Gain or loss at initial recognition shall be recognized only if there is a difference between
the transaction price and the fair value that is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets.
All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established generally by regulation or
convention in the marketplace concerned (the “regular way” of purchase and sale) are recognized at trade date, which is the
date the Bank commits to deliver the financial instrument. All other purchases and sales are recognized when the entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Classification of financial instruments at initial recognition. From 1 January 2018, financial assets are categorized at initial
recognition as being valued at amortized cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) or at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL).
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The classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets is based both on the Banks’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
1. Business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets to collect the contractual cash flows.
The contractual terms of financial instruments under this business model give rise on specified dates to contractual cash flows
of these financial instruments that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Given the
contractual terms, the financial assets managed under this business model meet the criteria of the solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amounts outstanding (SPPI) test.
The business model applies to the following types of financial assets:
1)
2)
3)
4)

Interbank term loans and deposits
Funds held in correspondent accounts
Other funds due from financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers

In accordance with IFRS 9, paragraph 4.1.2. the Bank recognizes these financial assets as measured at amortized cost.
2. Business model whose objectives is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.
The business model is applied to a debt securities portfolio. Managing a securities portfolio has the objective to maintain a
sufficient long-term yield and to provide a liquidity buffer. Decisions to sell are made as opportunities occur to reinvest in
financial assets with higher long-term yields, or if there is a need to improve liquidity profile.
Interest payments (coupon payments) and principal payments on the outstanding amount are made on the dates specified in
the terms and conditions of the securities issue.
Investments in debt securities held to collect the contractual cash flows and sales not recognized as those measured at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of
these investments are recognized in other comprehensive income, while the amount of allowance determined according to
the expected credit loss model is recognized in the profit or loss for the current year.
All investments in equity instruments are always measured at fair value. However, the management may make an irrevocable
decision to reflect changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, if the instrument is not classified as held for trading. If
an equity instrument is classified as held for trading, changes in its fair value shall be recognized in profit or loss.
3. Business model whose objective is to generate income through the sale of financial instruments and other business
models.
If the contractual cash flows on the financial assets do not meet the criteria of the solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amounts outstanding the financial assets are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss (derivative instruments). Embedded derivatives shall not be separated from financial assets but shall be included
for the purpose of SSPI test.
Reclassification of financial assets. Financial assets are not reclassified after their initial recognition, except for the period
following a change of business model for managing financial assets.
Financial Liabilities. The Bank classifies its financial liabilities, other financial guarantees and credit liabilities as measured at
amortized cost or fair value through profit or loss.
4.3. Impairment of Financial Assets
The Bank recognizes allowance for all categories of financial assets that are not classified as measured at fair value through
profit or loss.
The Bank shall assess the expected credit losses on its debt financial assets that are measured at amortized cost and at fair
value through other comprehensive income, as well as the risks arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts on the basis of the forecasts. The Bank shall measure expected credit losses and recognize a loss allowance for
expected credit losses for each reporting date in a way that reflects:
—

an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;

—

the time value of money;

—

reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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The Bank applies the impairment accounting model in accordance with IFRS 9, based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition:

—

a financial asset that is not impaired on initial recognition and without a significant increase in its credit risk during the
reporting period compared with the risk as at the date of initial recognition, as well as an asset in a low-risk portfolio at
the reporting date, is classified as a Stage 1 asset. For Stage 1 financial assets, expected credit losses are estimated as
an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses resulting from default events that are possible in the
next 12 months (12-month ECLs).

—

if the Bank identifies a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the asset is transferred to Stage 2, and
the relevant expected credit losses are recognized as lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECLs).

—

If the Bank determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired: a default status is assigned to the borrower while
simultaneously the loan is recognized as non-performing, the asset is transferred to Stage 3 and the relevant expected
credit losses are recognized as lifetime expected credit losses.

At each reporting date, the Bank performs an assessment to identify any significant increase in credit risk since the initial
recognition of a financial instrument. The following components are used to calculate ECL:
PD - probability of default, determined according to the risk segment and internal rating (or past-due group) for the
corresponding period (12 months or the lifetime of the instrument (Lifetime PD).
LGD - loss given default, determined as a share of losses in the credit claim at the time of default. The values are determined
using models developed on the basis of internal statistics.
EAD - the credit claim amount exposed to the risk of default. The values are determined using models developed on the basis
of internal statistics.
4.4. Derecognition of Financial Assets
The Bank derecognizes a financial asset only if one of the following occurs:
—

the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire;

—

the Bank transfers the financial asset, and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

A financial asset is deemed as transferred by the Bank if, and only if, either:
—

the Bank transfers contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, or;

—

the Bank retains the contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes the contractual
obligations to pay the cash flows to one or more recipients, in an arrangement that meets other certain conditions.

When the Bank transfers a financial asset, it shall evaluate the extent to which it retains the risks and rewards of ownership of
this financial asset. If the Bank:
—

transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, this financial asset is derecognized.
The rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer of the financial asset are recognized separately as assets
and liabilities;

—

retains substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the financial asset, the Bank shall continue recognize
the financial asset;

—

neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the financial asset, the Bank shall
determine whether it has retained control of this financial asset. If control is not retained, the Bank shall derecognize the
transferred financial asset. The rights and obligations that created or retained in the transfer of the financial asset are
recognized separately as assets and liabilities. If control is retained, the Bank shall continue to recognize the transferred
financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in this asset.

If the asset is modified with a significant change in contractual terms, the modified asset is derecognized and is recorded on
the balance sheet as a newly acquired asset.
If the financial asset is modified without any significant change in contractual terms, the modified asset is recognized at the
gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset.
4.5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand and cash balances on the Bank’s current (correspondent) accounts, as well as
cash equivalents that are short-term highly liquid investments readily convertible into a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. All short-term interbank placements except for overnight placements are
included in due from other banks. Amounts which relate to funds that are of a restricted nature are excluded from cash and
cash equivalents.
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4.6. Due from Financial Institutions
Amounts due from financial institutions are recorded when the Bank advances money that are due on fixed or determinable
dates to counterparty banks (including the Bank of Russia). Amounts due from financial institutions are carried at amortized
cost when:
i)

they are held to obtain contractual cash flows, and these cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest,

ii)

are not categorized as measured at fair value through profit or loss.

and

Amounts due from financial institutions are recorded at the time of issue (placement). Amounts due from financial institutions
are measured at fair value at initial recognition. Subsequently loans and deposits are recorded at amortized cost less
allowance for expected credit losses.
The difference between the fair value and the nominal value of a loan (deposit) that arises if a loan is issued (funds are
placed) at interest rates above or below established rates is recognized in the statement of profit and loss at the time of loan
issue (deposit) as “Income from (Expense on) Assets Placed at Rates Above (Below) Market”. Subsequently, the carrying
value of such loans (deposits) is adjusted for amortization of the said income/(expense), and the interest income is
recognized in the statement of profit and loss using the effective interest method.
4.7. Loans and Advances to Customers
Loans and advances to customers are recorded when the Bank advances money to purchase or originate a loan due from a
customer. Based on the business model and the cash flow characteristics, the Bank classifies loans and advances to
customers into one of the following measurement categories:
-

loans and advances to customers measured at amortized costs; they are initially measured at fair value with
additional direct transaction costs with subsequent measurement at amortized cost using effective interest method;

-

loans and advances to customers that are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss; such loans are
measured at fair value with immediate recognition of their change in value within profit or loss.

Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value plus incurred transaction costs. If there is an active market, the fair
value of loans and receivables is measured as the present value of all future cash receipts (payments) discounted at the
prevailing market interest rate for a similar instrument. If there is no active market, the fair value of loans and accounts
receivable is determined using one of the valuation techniques.
Afterwards, loans and receivable are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Loans and receivables are recognized from the moment funds are advanced to borrowers. Loans issued at interest rates
other than the market interest rates are measured on the date of issue at fair value, which comprises future interest payments
and the principal amount outstanding, discounted considering the market interest rates for similar loans.
The difference between the fair value and the nominal value of a loan is recognized in the statement of profit and loss as
“Income from (Expense on) Assets Placed at Rates Above (Below) Market”., Subsequently, the carrying value of these loans
is adjusted for amortization of the loan income (expense), and the corresponding income is recognized in the statement of
profit and loss using the effective interest method.
4.8. Financial Assets At Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of the following conditions are
met:
(a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objectiveis achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets and
(b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets initially recognized at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Generally, fair value is the price of the
transaction on the acquisition of a financial asset. Financial assets recognized at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value based on quoted bid prices of the financial asset.
Any unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognized in the statement of changes in equity.
Upon the disposal of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, any relevant accumulated unrealized
gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss as “Gains less losses arising from transactions with
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income”. Impairment and recovery of the previously impaired value
of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.
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The value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is decreased if their carrying value exceeds
the estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the current cost of expected cash flows
discounted at current market interest rates for a similar financial asset.
Interest income from financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is recognized in the statement of profit
and loss as interest income from financial assets estimated at fair value through other comprehensive income. Any dividends
received are recognized in the “Dividend Income” line of the profit and loss statement, as part of operating income from
transactions with securities.
4.9. Fixed Assets
Fixed assets are recognized at cost restated to the equivalent of the purchasing power of the national currency of the Russian
Federation as at 1 January 2003, for assets acquired before 1 January 2003, or at a revalued cost as stated below less
accumulated depreciation and impairment provisions.
On each reporting date, the Bank determines whether there is any evidence of fixed asset impairment. If such evidence
exists, the Bank measures the recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of the net selling price of the fixed
assets and the value in use.
If the carrying value of fixed assets exceeds their estimated recoverable amount, the carrying value of fixed assets is reduced
to the recoverable amount, and the difference is recognized in the statement of profit and loss as fixed asset impairment loss,
unless it has previously been revalued. In such case, the revaluation surplus is eliminated first and any additional loss is
charged in profit or loss for the year. An impairment loss recorded for an asset in prior periods is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposal of fixed assets are determined on the basis of their carrying value and are recognized in the
amount of profit (loss). Repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when incurred.
4.10. Lease
The date of the Bank’s initial application of IFRS 16 is 1 January 2019.
The Bank applies IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, therefore comparative information has not been
restated.
At inception of a contract, the Bank shall assess whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
The Bank shall recognize a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability in respect of all the lease contracts whereby
it is the lessee, at the date when the leased asset becomes available for use (commencement date). The short-term leases
(with a term of 12 months or less) and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value might be exempt from this
requirement and the lease payments associated with those leases are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis.
At the commencement date the Bank shall measure the right-of-use asset at cost; afterwards - at cost less accumulated
depreciation, losses for impairment, adjusted for revaluation of lease liabilities. Right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
shorter of the right-of-use asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The cost of the right-of-use assets includes the following components:
• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the lease less any incentive payments received;
• any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and
• estimated costs of restoration and dismantling.
Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the lease
commencement date and are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
the Bank shall use the incremental borrowing rate being the rate that the Bank would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.
At the commencement date, the lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following
payments:
• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments);
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;
• amounts expected to be payable by the Bank under residual value guarantees;
• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Bank has reasonable grounds to exercise that option; and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Bank exercising an option to terminate the
lease.
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Subsequently, the carrying amount of lease liability shall be increased by the amount of interest on the lease liability and
reduced by the amount of the lease payments made. Thus, each lease payment is distributed between liability and finance
costs. Interest on lease liability is recognized within profit or loss over the lease period to ensure a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability for each period. The carrying amount of lease liability is remeasured if
there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate; a change in the estimate of the
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee or there is a change in the assessment if the Bank is
reasonably certain to exercise either an option to purchase the underlying asset or an extension option, or not to exercise a
termination option.
4.11. Depreciation
Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the following rates:
Fixed asset group

Depreciation rate, %

Buildings

2.5

Equipment

20.0

Intangible assets

33.3

The depreciation method applied to an asset should be reviewed at least once at the end of each financial year. Every
material change in the approach to asset depreciation will affect the depreciation method applied to this asset.
Depreciation is recognized even if the fair value of the asset exceeds its carrying amount, as long as the asset’s residual
value does not exceed its carrying amount. Repair and maintenance of an asset do not negate the need to depreciate it.
Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use, i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Depreciation of an asset ceases when the asset is
derecognized.
4.12. Intangible assets
Intangible assets include identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. Separately acquired intangible assets
are initially measured at cost.
After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at its cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated
impairment losses.
Intangible assets have finite or indefinite useful lives. Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortized over the useful life
and are analyzed for impairment if there is evidence of the intangible asset’s possible impairment. The amortization period
and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected type of use of a certain asset and the receipt of future economic benefits
from it are recorded by changing the amortization period or method (as the case may be) and are considered as changes in
accounting estimates. The amortization charge for intangible assets with a finite useful life is recognized in the statement of
profit and loss as part of expenses according to the intangible asset’s purpose.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life shall not be amortized. However, they are annually analyzed for impairment,
either individually or at the level of the cash-flow generating unit. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. Otherwise,
the useful life is changed on a prospective basis from indefinite to finite.
Software costs are recorded as expenses as incurred. Costs directly attributable to identifiable software that is controlled by
the Bank and whose economic benefits are highly likely to exceed costs are recognized as an intangible asset.
Direct costs include expenses arising from employing a software development team and the appropriate proportion of general
running costs.
Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programmes beyond their original
specifications is recorded as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.
4.13. Credit-Related Commitments
The Bank undertakes credit-related commitments, including letters of credit and financial guarantees. Financial guarantees
are irrevocable commitments to make payments if a customer fails to fulfill its obligations to third parties and are exposed to
the same credit risk as loans.

Page 18

Interstate Bank
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
(in thousands of Russian rubles unless otherwise stated)

4

Principles of Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial guarantees and loan commitments are initially recognized at fair value which is normally evidenced by the amount
of commissions received. This amount is amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the commitment, except for loan
commitments, if the Bank is likely to enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sell the loan within a
short period after its origination; such commission income relating to the loan commitment are deferred and included in the
carrying value of the loan on initial recognition. On each reporting date, the commitments are measured as the higher of two
amounts: the amortized amount at initial recognition and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the commitment
on the reporting date.
Provisions are made for credit-related commitments if such commitments are likely to cause losses.
4.14. Authorized Capital
The authorized capital is recognized at its historical cost and is subject to inflation adjustment if paid with monetary assets
before 1 January 2003.
Shares in the authorized capital purchased by the Bank from the Bank’s members are recognized in the decrease of equity
(capital).
4.15. Recognition of Income and Expenses
Interest income and expenses for all debt instruments are recorded in the statement of profit and loss on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method.
Commission fees integral to the effective interest rate include origination fee received or paid relating to the creation or
acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial liability (for example, fees for evaluating creditworthiness, evaluating
or recording guarantees or collateral, negotiating the terms of the instrument and for processing transaction documents).
Commission fees received by the Bank for commitments to originate loans at market rates are integral to the effective interest
rate if it is probable that the Bank will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sell the loan within a
short period after its origination. The Bank does not designate loan commitments as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss.
When loans and other debt instruments become doubtful for collection, they are written down to the present value of expected
cash inflows and interest income is thereafter recorded for the unwinding of the present value discount based on the asset’s
effective interest rate which was used to measure the recoverable amount.
All other fees, commission and other income and expenses are generally recorded on an accrual basis by reference to
completion of a specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services
to be provided.
Commissions and fees arising from transactions for a third party, such as the acquisition of loans, shares or other securities
or the purchase or sale of businesses, and which are earned on execution of the underlying transaction, are recorded on its
completion. Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognized based on the applicable service
contracts on a time-proportion basis. Asset management (trust management) fees are recorded according to the contractual
terms on the date the Bank acquires the right to receive such fees and its amount can be determined. Fees for services
implying an extended service period are recognized in each reporting period pro rata to the volume of services provided. The
same principle is applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services that are continually provided over
an extended period of time.
4.16. Income Tax
Pursuant to the agreement between the Bank and the Government of the Russian Federation dated 30 July, 1996, the Bank
is exempt from taxes, levies and other mandatory charges payable in the territory of the Russian Federation.
The “Income tax (expense)” line of the statement of comprehensive income reflects taxes paid by the Bank on its income
received outside the Russian Federation.
The Bank may pay taxes and levies outside the Russian Federation.
4.17. Foreign Currency Revaluation
The financial statements are presented in the national currency of the Russian Federation, which is the Bank’s functional and
presentation currency.
Transactions in foreign currency are reflected at the Bank of Russia’s official rate effective on the transaction date. Exchange
differences resulting from transaction settlements in foreign currency are recorded in the statement of profit and loss at the
Bank of Russia’s official exchange rate effective on the transaction date.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are translated to the national currency of the Russian Federation at the
Bank of Russia’s official rate on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences related to debt securities and other monetary financial assets at fair value are included in gains less
losses from foreign currency revaluation.
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Exchange differences related to non-monetary items such as equity instruments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recorded as part of the fair value gain or loss.
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Bank of Russia’s official rate used for balance revaluation on foreign
currency accounts was:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

100 Armenian drams

15.5164

14.1457

Belarusian ruble

29.1458

28.6018

100 Kazakhstani tenge

16.9000

17.5481

US dollar

74.2926

73.8757

Euro

84.0695

90.6824

4.18. Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported on the balance sheet only when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
4.19. Subordinated Debt
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Bank recognizes perpetual subordinated debt within equity. If certain
events occur the Bank’s obligations to repay the principal debt (in full or in part) under the subordinated loans agreements
terminate (the loans might be considered as loss absorption capacity of the Bank). Interest payments on such loans are not
mandatory. Interest payments are made only if the Bank decides to do so, and the amount payables is recognized by the
Bank only after relevant interest payment is declared. Interest payments are recorded in the statement of changes in equity
similar to dividend payments.
4.20. Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events. It is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
4.21. Salaries and Related Contributions
Expenses related to wages, salaries, bonuses, paid annual leaves and contributions to state non-budgetary funds are
recognized as the associated services are rendered by the employee, whereas sick and childcare leaves as well as nonmonetary benefits are recognized as they are incurred.
The Bank undertakes to reimburse the amounts of annual paid leaves, if such leaves were not used by the employees. Such
liabilities are recognized in the statement of financial position in Other Liabilities with simultaneous recognition, either in the
statement of profit and loss for the amounts related to the reporting period and or in the retained earnings for the amounts in
prior periods.
With respect to its employees, the Bank pays contributions to the Pension Fund, the Social Insurance Fund and the
mandatory medical insurance funds of the Russian Federation. Such expenses are recorded as incurred and included in staff
costs.
4.22. Related Party Transactions
The Bank conducts related party transactions. Parties are deemed as related if one of the parties has control over the other
party, is jointly controlled with the other party, is jointly controlled by the other party and a third party or can significantly
influence the other party’s financial and operational decisions.
When considering relationships with related parties, the Bank takes into account the economic substance of such
relationships and not only their legal form.
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Interest income and expenses were as follows.
2021

2020

395,005

268,324

Interest income on assets measured at amortized cost
Due from financial institutions
Loans to customers
Total interest income on financial assets measured at amortized cost

77

206

395,082

268,530

Interest income on assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
499,621

468,277

Total interest income on financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On financial assets held for profit or for sale

499,621

468,277

Total interest income

894,703

736,807

(22,563)

(5,005)

(4,240)

(165)

Total interest expenses on liabilities at amortized cost

(26,803)

(5,170)

Total interest expenses

(26,803)

(5,170)

Net interest income

867,900

731,637

Interest expenses on liabilities at amortized cost
Due to financial institutions
Lease liabilities

6

Allowance for Expected Credit Losses

Allowance for expected credit losses recognized in profit and loss include charges made in the current year for allowance
based on the expected credit loss model according to IFRS 9.
Change in allowance for expected credit losses in 2021:

Balance as
12at 31
month
December
ECLs
2020

Net
Lifetime ECLs Lifetime ECLs Purchased or changes in Balance
originated
allowance
– not credit- creditas at 31
creditfor
impaired
impaired
December
impaired
expected
assets
assets
2021
assets
credit
losses

Measured at amortized
cost:
Due from financial
institutions

281

(248)

-

-

-

(248)

33

Total changes in
allowance for expected
credit losses on interestbearing assets

281

(248)

-

-

-

(248)

33

Total changes in
allowance for expected
credit losses

281

(248)

-

-

-

(248)

33
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Change in allowance for expected credit losses in 2020:

Balance as
12at 31
month
December
ECLs
2019

Net
Lifetime ECLs Lifetime ECLs Purchased or changes in Balance
originated
allowance
– not credit- creditas at 31
creditfor
impaired
impaired
December
impaired
expected
assets
assets
2020
assets
credit
losses

Measured at amortized
cost:
Due from financial
institutions

379

(98)

-

-

-

(98)

281

Total changes in
allowance for expected
credit losses on interestbearing assets

379

(98)

-

-

-

(98)

281

Total changes in
allowance for expected
credit losses

379

(98)

-

-

-

(98)

281

2021

2020

3,912

3,523

473

413

4,385

3,936

(122)

(89)

Cash and settlement services and account maintenance

(2,116)

(1,899)

Custody services

(2,098)

(2,060)

(3)

(3)

(245)

(308)

(4,584)

(4,359)

(199)

(423)

7

Fee and Commission Income and Expenses

Fee and commission income and expenses were as follows.

Fee and commission income
Cash and settlement transactions
Other commission income
Total fee and commission income
Fee and commission expenses
Money transfer services including services of payment and settlement systems

Transactions with foreign currency
Other commission expenses
Total fee and commission expenses
Total fee and commission income and expenses

8

Other Operating Income

Other operating income was as follows.
2021

2020

-

3,163

Dividends received

300

300

Other operating income

533

670

833

4,133

Income from disposal of fixed assets

Total other operating income
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9

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses were as follows
2021

2020

346,789

303,262

Professional services

25,642

23,733

Communications services

13,585

13,877

Expenses related to fixed assets (maintenance, repairs)

13,437

8,631

Security expenses

8,524

8,206

Depreciation

8,112

9,100

Data processing payment electronic systems

7,835

9,602

Right-of-use asset depreciation

6,659

3,042

Inventory write-off

5,867

4,451

Membership fees

2,979

3,435

Intellectual property license fees

2,634

1,776

Travel expenses

1,978

614

Insurance

1,857

2,101

Hospitality expenses

1,242

226

Advertising and marketing

1,021

430

Other operating expenses

11,198

7,166

Total operating expenses

459,359

399,652

2021

2020

253,949

227,015

Social security contributions

54,980

48,030

Fixed contributions to the non-state pension fund

19,230

16,264

Other staff-related payments

18,630

11,953

346,789

303,262

Staff costs

Staff costs included

Salaries and bonus payments

Total staff costs

10

Cash and Cash Equivalents
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

60,285

83,481

Cash balances with the Bank of Russia

106,080

39,948

Balances in correspondent accounts

713,492

339,247

Total cash and cash equivalents

879,857

462,676

Cash on hand

Balances in correspondent accounts are recorded at amortized cost calculated in accordance with IFRS 9.
Balances in correspondent accounts as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 include mainly the balances on
accounts with the central (national) banks of member states.
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10 Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued)
The table below shows an analysis of cash and cash equivalents (other than cash on hand) by external ratings assigned by
international rating agencies
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

106,080

39,948

258,979

46,620

47,384

35,738

309,398

193,448

97,731

63,441

819,572

379,195

Cash balances with the Bank of Russia
Balances in correspondent accounts with the banks
With international credit ratings
from BВВ to BBВfrom BВ+ to BВfrom B+ to BWithout international credit ratings
Total cash and cash equivalents (other than cash on hand)

Currency, maturity, and interest rate analysis of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 22.
Related-party transactions are disclosed in Note 26.

11

Due from Financial Institutions

Funds due from financial institutions are represented by loans (deposits) provided by the Bank to counterparty banks.
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Interbank term loans and deposits
Other funds due from financial institutions
Total due from financial institutions before allowance for expected credit
losses
Allowance for expected credit losses
Total due from financial institutions

11,026,269

9,559,549

41,580

42,747

11,067,849

9,602,296

(33)

(281)

11,067,816

9,602,015

Funds due from financial institutions are not secured.
Below is the analysis of changes in the allowance for expected credit losses of on balances due from financial institutions, for
2021:
Interbank term loans and
deposits

Other funds due from
financial institutions

Total

243

38

281

(243)

(5)

(248)

-

33

33

Allowance for expected credit losses
as at 1 January 2021
Changes in allowance for expected credit losses
Allowance for expected credit losses as
at 31 December 2021
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11 Due from Financial Institutions (continued)
Below is the analysis of changes in the allowance of for expected credit losses on balances due from financial institutions, for
2020:
Interbank term loans and
deposits

Other funds due from
financial institutions

Total

87

292

379

Changes in allowance for expected credit losses

156

(254)

(98)

Allowance for expected credit losses as
at 31 December 2020

243

38

281

Allowance for expected credit losses
as at 1 January 2020

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, there were no overdue balances with counterparty banks.
Allowance for expected credit losses is assessed on an individual basis considering country-related risk.
Below is information about the credit quality of due from financial institutions as at 31 December 2021:
Interbank term loans and
deposits

Other funds due
from financial
institutions

Due from financial
institutions, total

10,603,663

20,800

10,624,463

-

-

-

422,606

20,780

443,386

11,026,269

41,580

11,067,849

-

(33)

(33)

11,026,269

41,547

11,067,816

Due from financial institutions
- (with the top 20 Russian banks)
- (with other Russian banks)
- (with other banks)
Total due from financial institutions before
allowance for expected credit losses
Allowance for expected credit losses
Total due from financial institutions

Below is information about the credit quality of due from financial institutions as at 31 December 2020:
Interbank term loans and
deposits

Other funds due
from financial
institutions

Due from financial
institutions, total

- (with the top 20 Russian banks)

8,000,565

19,983

8,020,548

- (with other Russian banks)

1,120,282

-

1,120,282

438,702

22,764

461,466

9,559,549

42,747

9,602,296

(243)

(38)

(281)

9,559,306

42,709

9,602,015

Due from financial institutions

- (with other banks)
Total due from financial institutions before
allowance for expected credit losses
Allowance for expected credit losses
Total due from financial institutions

During 2021 and 2020 the Bank did not place any funds in financial institutions at above-market rates.
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11 Due from Financial Institutions (continued)
The table below shows an analysis due from financial institutions by external ratings assigned by international rating agencies
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

11,026,269

7,620,846

-

1,938,703

11,026,269

9,559,549

20,800

19,983

20,780

22,764

41,580

42,747

11,067,849

9,602,296

(33)

(281)

11,067,816

9,602,015

Interbank term loans and deposits
With international credit ratings
from BВВ to BBВfrom BВ+ to BВTotal interbank term loans and deposits
Other funds due from financial institutions
With international credit ratings
from BВВ to BBВWithout international credit ratings
Total other funds due from financial institutions
Total due from financial institutions before allowance for expected credit
losses
Allowance for expected credit losses
Total due from financial institutions

As at 31 December 2021 due from financial institutions included aggregated balances of two counterparties individually
exceeding 10% of the Bank’s equity and amounting to 10,604,748 thousand rubles, or 95.82% of total due from financial
institutions (31 December 2020: due from financial institutions included aggregated balances of six counterparties individually
exceeding 10% of the Bank’s equity and amounting to 9,002,763 thousand rubles, or 93.76% of total due from financial
institutions).
Currency, maturity and interest rate analysis of due from financial institutions are disclosed in Note 22. The fair value of due
from financial institutions is disclosed in Note 25.

12

Loans and Advances to Customers
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Measured at amortized cost:
Loans to individuals

532

Total loans and advances to customers before allowance for expected credit
losses

532

Allowance for expected credit losses
Total loans and advances to customers

4,236
4,236

-

-

532

4,236

Below is information on the credit quality of loans and advances at amortized cost, as at 31 December 2021:
Lifetime expected
12-month
Lifetime expected
credit losses - notexpected credit
credit losses – credit
credit-impaired
losses
impaired assets
assets

Purchased or
originated creditimpaired assets

Total

Measured at amortized cost
Loans to individuals
- Minimal credit risk

532

-

-

-

532

Total loans to individuals

532

-

-

-

532

Total measured at
amortized cost

532

-

-

-

532
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12 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)
Below is information on the credit quality of loans and advances at amortized cost, as at 31 December 2020:
Lifetime expected
12-month
Lifetime expected
credit losses - notexpected credit
credit losses – credit
credit-impaired
losses
impaired assets
assets

Purchased or
originated creditimpaired assets

Total

Measured at amortized cost
Loans to individuals
- Minimal credit risk

4,236

-

-

-

4,236

Total loans to individuals

4,236

-

-

-

4,236

Total measured at
amortized cost

4,236

-

-

-

4,236

Currency, maturity and interest rate analysis of loans and advances to customers are disclosed in Note 22.
The fair value of loans and advances to customers is disclosed in Note 25.

13

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Debt- financial assets
Federal bonds of the Russian Federation (OFZ)

1,889,776

2,425,426

Debt securities of other issuers

5,435,017

4,276,492

Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
before allowance for expected credit losses

7,324,793

6,701,918

-

-

7,324,793

6,701,918

Allowance for expected credit losses
Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

The portfolio of federal bonds of the Russian Federation (OFZ) as at 31 December 2021 includes eight issues
(31 December 2020:
nine
issues)
with
the
total
nominal
value
of
1,928,910
thousand
rubles
(31 December 2020: 2,248,141 thousand rubles).
As at 31 December 2021, the coupon rate on the above bonds is between 5.70% and 7.95%, payable two times a year
(31 December 2020: between 4.79% and 7.95%, payable two to four times a year).
The portfolio of debt securities from other issuers includes bonds issued by Russian and foreign residents with the long-term
credit rating from BBB to BB according to Standard and Poor's or according to Fitch Ratings, with the total nominal value of
5,576,702 thousand rubles (31 December 2020: from BBB+ to BB+ with the total nominal value of 4,069,385 thousand
rubles).
As at 31 December 2021, the coupon rate on these bonds is between 5.70% and 9.15%, payable two to four times a year
(31 December 2020: 6.0% to 9.15% payable two to four times a year).
Maturity, currency and interest rate analysis of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are
disclosed in Note 22.
The fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is disclosed in Note 25.
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14

Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets

Below is information on the value of fixed and intangible assets in 2021.
Buildings

Office and computer
equipment

Intangible assets

Total fixed and
intangible assets

28,584

16,943

-

45,527

65,893

83,594

3,488

152,975

Additions

-

10,410

13,714

24,124

Disposals

-

(12,129)

-

(12,129)

65,893

81,875

17,202

164,970

(37,309)

(66,651)

(3,488)

(107,448)

(1,623)

(6,480)

(9)

(8,112)

-

10,968

-

10,968

(38,932)

(62,163)

(3,497)

(104,592)

26,961

19,712

13,705

60,378

Carrying amount as at
1 January 2021
Cost
Cost as at 1 January 2021

Cost as at 31 December
2021
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated depreciation as
at 1 January 2021
Depreciation charges
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31 December 2021
Carrying amount as at
31 December 2021

Below is information on the value of fixed and intangible assets in 2020.
Buildings

Office and computer
equipment

Intangible assets

Total fixed and
intangible assets

30,207

19,687

-

49,894

65,893

86,184

4,273

156,350

Additions

-

5,034

-

5,034

Disposals

-

(7,624)

(785)

(8,409)

65,893

83,594

3,488

152,975

(35,686)

(66,497)

(4,273)

(106,456)

(1,623)

(7,477)

-

(9,100)

-

7,323

785

8,108

(37,309)

(66,651)

(3,488)

(107,448)

28,584

16,943

-

45,527

Carrying amount as at
1 January 2020
Cost
Cost as at 1 January 2020

Cost as at 31 December
2020
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated depreciation as
at 1 January 2020
Depreciation charges
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation
as at 31 December 2020
Carrying amount as at
31 December 2020
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15

Lease

Below is information on the value of right-of-use assets in 2021 and 2020.
2021

2020

6,548

2,654

12,900

5,777

113,935

6,651

1,102

472

127,937

12,900

Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January

(6,352)

(3,123)

Depreciation charges

(6,659)

(3,042)

(531)

(187)

Accumulated depreciation as at 31
December

(13,542)

(6,352)

Carrying amount as at 31 December

114,395

6,548

Carrying amount as at 1 January
Cost as at 1 January
Additions
Effect of exchange rate changes
Cost as at 31 December
Accumulated depreciation

Effect of exchange rate changes

Lease liabilities comprise future payments for the rights to use the relevant underlying assets. As at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 minimum future lease payments were as follows:
Minimum
remaining lease
payments

Less than
1 year

1-2 years

2-3 years

3-4 years

4-5 years

More than
5 years

Total

Lease payments

17,621

16,724

12,135

4,640

4,640

202,005

257,765

Finance costs

(8,612)

(6,588)

(5,057)

(4,364)

(4,346)

(132,619)

(161,586)

9,009

10,136

7,078

276

294

69,386

96,179

Lease payments

2,963

1,949

2,127

-

-

-

7,039

Finance costs

(253)

(132)

(53)

-

-

-

(438)

Net present value

2,710

1,817

2,074

-

-

-

6,601

31 December 2021

Net present value
31 December 2020

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 the Bank was not committed to the leases not yet commenced.
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 the Bank did not have any operating lease.

16

Other Assets
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Accounts receivable and prepayments
Other
Total other assets
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17

Due to Financial Institutions
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Correspondent accounts of other banks

2,271,902

1,415,720

Total due to financial institutions

2,271,902

1,415,720

In 2021 and 2020, the Bank did not receive any funds from financial institutions at above-market rates.
As at 31 December 2021 there were no counterparties within due to financial institutions with aggregated balances
individually exceeding 10% of the Bank’s equity (31 December 2020: there were no counterparties with aggregated balances
individually exceeding 10% of the Bank’s equity).
As at 31 December 2021 balances of five counterparties amounted to 2,055,504 thousand rubles or 90.48% of total due to
financial institutions (31 December 2020: balances of five counterparties amounted to 1,239,705 thousand rubles or 87.57%
of total due to financial institutions).
Currency, maturity and interest rate analysis of due to financial institutions are disclosed in Note 22.
The fair value of due to financial institutions is disclosed in Note 25.
Related-party transactions are disclosed in Note 26.

18

Due to Customers
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Accounts of legal entities
Current and settlement accounts

10,225,428

8,358,760

Total accounts of legal entities

10,225,428

8,358,760

Current and demand accounts

17,896

26,822

Total accounts of individuals

17,896

26,822

10,243,324

8,385,582

Accounts of individuals

Total due to customers
A breakdown of customers by industry is given below:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Amount

%

Amount

%

10,134,981

98.9%

8,295,920

98.9%

Manufacturing

73,790

0.7%

30,736

0.4%

Individuals

17,896

0.2%

26,822

0.3%

Trade and services

14,506

0.2%

13,831

0.2%

Transport

1,071

0.0%

18,186

0.2%

Finance and investments

1,033

0.0%

9

0.0%

45

0.0%

62

0.0%

2

0.0%

16

0.0%

10,243,324

100.0%

8,385,582

100.0%

International organizations

Oil, gas and chemical enterprises
Other
Total due to customers

In 2021 and 2020, the Bank did not have any customer funds at above-market rates.
As at 31 December 2021, the account balance of 1 legal entity amounted to 9,009,322 thousand rubles (31 December 2020:
7,292,063 thousand rubles), being 87.95% of total due to customers (31 December 2020 - 86.96%).
Currency, maturity and interest rate analysis of due to customers are disclosed in Note 22.
The fair value of due to customers is disclosed in Note 25.
Related-party transactions are disclosed in Note 26.
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19

Other Liabilities
31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Accounts payable

12,320

14,568

Total other liabilities

12,320

14,568

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Bank had no overdue liabilities to customers. In 2021 and 2020 the
Bank did not make any provisions for liabilities.

20

Authorized Capital
31 December 2020

31 December 2021
Nominal
value
Shares in authorized capital

20,000

InflationAcquisition
adjusted
cost
value
212,086

Shares in authorized capital
repurchased from members
Total authorized capital

Nominal
value

Inflationadjusted
value

20,000

212,086

(1,100)
20,000

212,086

(1,100)

Acquisition
cost

(1,100)
20,000

212,086

(1,100)

The Bank was founded by the parties to the Agreement on the Foundation of the Interstate Bank signed on 22 January 1993,
by the heads of the following member states: the Republic of Armenia, the Republic of Belarus, the Republic of Kazakhstan,
the Kyrgyz Republic, the Republic of Moldova, Russian Federation, the Republic of Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, the Republic of
Uzbekistan and Ukraine.
The votes in the Council of the Bank, its supreme governing body, are distributed between the Bank’s members as follows:
Russian Federation – 50 % of the total votes; other members – in proportion to each state’s share in the total foreign trade
turnover for 1990.

21

Retained Earnings
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Reserve fund

1,416,400

1,416,400

Retained Earnings

3,456,908

3,047,361

Total

4,873,308

4,463,761
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22

Risk Management

The Bank has developed and implemented a risk management system, which includes:
- direct risk management (identification, assessment, and response to risks);
- constant monitoring of the risks such as operational risk, legal risk (various jurisdictions), financial risks (credit risk, liquidity
risk and market risk), and reputational risk;
- plan to continue as a going concern.
The organizational structure of the Bank’s risk management system includes the following levels:
- Council of the Bank
- President of the Bank
- collegial bodies;
- specialist units.
In terms of organization structure, the Bank fully abides by the principle of a clear segregation of duties and responsibilities
between the units and staff related to initiating of transactions (financial risk acceptance), transaction administration,
accounting, reporting, and risk assessment in order to avoid any possible conflicts of interests.
Risk management in the Bank includes the identification and assessment of risks, their monitoring, control over the volume,
structure and concentration, and the development of risk mitigation measures (including an acceptable balance between risks
and transaction profit margins).
-

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of losses that may be incurred by the Bank due to a borrower’s failure to perform in due time and/or in
full on financial obligations to the Bank in accordance with the contractual terms. The Bank becomes exposed to credit risk
through the financial asset arising in the course of the Bank’s lending and other transactions with counterparties.
The Bank’s credit risk management system includes the following:
- structuring of credit risk using a system of limits on decision-making and on credit risk concentration with individual
borrowers (counterparty banks, debt security issuers);
- reduction of credit risk by taking collateral and recognition of allowance for impaired loans;
- review (mitigation) of credit risk prior to performance of the transaction, as well as by taking timely measures to identify
credit risk factors during subsequent monitoring.
-

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank’s monetary funds will be insufficient for the Bank to perform its obligations to
counterparties.
The Bank manages liquidity risk in terms of current and projected (prospective) liquidity.
Current liquidity management comprises short-term (up to one month) cash flow forecasting and management in terms of
currencies and maturities in order to allow the Bank to discharge its obligations, perform settlements as instructed by
customers and fund active transactions.
Projected liquidity management comprises the development and implementation of measures to manage assets and liabilities
for the purpose of maintaining the Bank’s solvency over a period of 30+ days and, if possible, increasing the asset portfolio
while ensuring an acceptable balance of liquid assets and transaction profitability.
The Bank has virtually no dependence on the money market (where the Bank is a net lender). The Bank also has virtually no
risk of liquidity gaps.
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22 Risk Management (continued)
The carrying amount of financial instruments by expected maturity dates is shown in the table below, as at 31 December
2021.
On demand and
less than 1
month

1 to 6
months

6 to 12
months

879,857

-

-

More than Overdue / no
stated
1 year
maturity

Total

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Due from Financial Institutions

-

-

879,857

- 11,067,816

11,067,816

-

-

-

59

296

88

89

-

532

40,569

380,942

976,046

5,927,236

-

7,324,793

Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets

-

-

-

-

60,378

60,378

Right-of-Use Assets

-

-

-

-

114,395

114,395

Other Assets

5,414

16,445

-

-

338

22,197

Total assets

11,993,715

397,683

976,134

5,927,325

Due to Financial Institutions

2,271,902

-

-

-

-

Due to Сustomers other than
individuals

10,225,428

-

-

-

- 10,225,428

17,896

-

-

-

-

17,896

Lease Liabilities

734

3,735

4,540

87,170

-

96,179

Other Liabilities

8,188

3,106

1,026

-

-

12,320

Total liabilities

12,524,148

6,841

5,566

87,170

Net balance sheet position as at
31 December 2021

(530,433)

390,842

970,568

5,840,155

175,111

Net balance sheet position
cumulative as at
31 December 2021

(530,433)

(139,591)

830,977

6,671,132

6,846,243

Loans and Advances to Customers
Financial Assets at Fair Value
through Other Comprehensive
Income

175,111 19,469,968

LIABILITIES

Due to Сustomers – individuals
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22 Risk Management (continued)
The carrying amount of financial instruments by expected maturity dates is shown in the table below, as at 31 December
2020.
On demand and
less than 1
month

1 to 6
months

6 to 12
months

462,676

-

-

9,481,736

120,279

458

1,919

30,211

661,002

Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets

-

Right-of-Use Assets

-

Other Assets
Total assets

More than Overdue / no
stated
1 year
maturity

Total

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents

-

-

462,676

-

-

-

9,602,015

1,637

222

-

4,236

176,000

5,834,705

-

6,701,918

-

-

-

45,527

45,527

-

-

-

6,548

6,548

2,920

17,200

-

-

338

20,458

9,978,001

800,400

177,637

5,834,927

Due to Financial Institutions

1,415,720

-

-

-

-

Due to Сustomers other than
individuals

8,358,760

-

-

-

-

26,822

-

-

-

-

26,822

Lease Liabilities

132

1,583

995

3,891

-

6,601

Other Liabilities

12,215

1,330

1,023

-

-

14,568

Total liabilities

9,813,649

2,913

2,018

3,891

-

9,822,471

Net balance sheet position as at
31 December 2020

164,352

797,487

175,619

5,831,036

52,413

7,020,907

Net balance sheet position
cumulative as at
31 December 2020

164,352

961,839

1,137,458

6,968,494

7,020,907

Due from Financial Institutions
Loans and Advances to Customers
Financial Assets at Fair Value
through Other Comprehensive
Income

52,413 16,843,378

LIABILITIES

Due to Сustomers – individuals

1,415,720
8,358,760

The tables below show the distribution of undiscounted contractual cash flows on the Bank’s liabilities by remaining
contractual maturities.
The table below is the analysis of financial liabilities by maturity dates, as at 31 December 2021:
6 to 12 More than
1 year

On demand and less
than 1 month

1 to 6
months

months

2,271,902

-

-

-

2,271,902

10,225,428

-

-

-

10,225,428

Total

LIABILITIES
Due to Financial Institutions
Due to Сustomers other than individuals
Due to Сustomers – individuals

17,896

-

-

-

17,896

Lease Liabilities

1,513

7,427

8,681

240,144

257,765

Other Liabilities

8,188

3,106

1,026

-

12,320

12,524,927

10,533

9,707

240,144

12,785,311

Total potential future payments on financial liabilities
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22 Risk Management (continued)
The table below is the analysis of financial liabilities by maturity dates, as at 31 December 2020:
6 to 12 More than
1 year

On demand and less
than 1 month

1 to 6
months

months

Due to Financial Institutions

1,415,720

-

-

-

1,415,720

Due to Сustomers other than individuals

8,358,760

-

-

-

8,358,760

26,822

-

-

-

26,822

Lease Liabilities

135

1,729

1,099

4,076

7,039

Other Liabilities

12,215

1,330

1,023

-

14,568

9,813,652

3,059

2,122

4,076

9,822,909

Total

LIABILITIES

Due to Сustomers – individuals

Total potential future payments on financial liabilities
-

Geographical risk

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 assets and liabilities of the Bank were concentrated mainly in the Russian
Federation.
-

Market risk

The Bank is exposed to market risk, which is the risk of financial losses or a reduction in asset value due to adverse changes
in market prices (foreign exchange rates, interest rates, etc.). The Bank sets limits on the level of assumed risk and monitors
their observance on a daily basis. But this approach does not prevent losses exceeding the set limits in the event of more
substantial market changes.
Market risk is categorized as follows:
- interest rate risk
- other price risk
- currency risk.
-

Interest rate risk

The Bank takes the risk of fluctuations in market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. Such fluctuations may
increase interest margin, however sudden changes in interest rates may also cause interest margin to drop or give rise to
losses.
The objective of interest rate risk management is to reduce the impact of changes in interest rates on net interest income. For
the purpose of managing interest rate risk, the Bank sets maximum interest rates for raising funds and minimum rates for
placing resources, minimum rates of return on investment for securities and restrictions on long-term active transactions.
Interest rate and other price risks are regulated also by setting maximum amounts of investment in market price sensitive
assets, according to terms and rates. But this approach does not prevent losses in the event of material changes in market
conditions.
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22 Risk Management (continued)
Below is the Bank’s sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk as at 31 December 2021. The table shows assets and liabilities
exposed to interest rate risk grouped by different time intervals basing on interest repricing dates.
On demand
and less
than 1
month

1 to 6
months

No stated
6 to 12 More than
maturity /
months
1 year Non-interest
bearing

879,857

-

-

-

-

11,067,816

-

-

-

- 11,067,816

59

296

88

89

-

532

40,569

886,837

976,046

5,421,341

-

7,324,793

Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets

-

-

-

-

60,378

60,378

Right-of-Use Assets

-

-

-

-

114,395

114,395

Other Assets

5,414

16,445

-

-

338

22,197

Total assets

11,993,715

903,578

976,134

5,421,430

Total assets, cumulative

11,993,715

Total

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Due from Financial Institutions
Loans and Advances to Customers
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income

12,897,293 13,873,427 19,294,857

879,857

175,111 19,469,968
19,469,968

LIABILITIES
Due to Financial Institutions

2,271,902

-

-

-

-

10,225,428

-

-

-

- 10,225,428

17,896

-

-

-

-

17,896

Lease Liabilities

734

3,735

4,540

87,170

-

96,179

Other Liabilities

8,188

3,106

1,026

-

-

12,320

Total liabilities

12,524,148

6,841

5,566

87,170

Total liabilities, cumulative

12,524,148

Due to Сustomers other than individuals
Due to Сustomers – individuals

Absolute GAP
Gap ratio (total relative GAP, cumulative)
Sensitivity to interest rate risk

12,530,989 12,536,555 12,623,725

(530,433)
0.96
(5,083)
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896,737

970,568

1.03

1.11

6,352

2,426

5,334,260
1.53

2,271,902

- 12,623,725
12,623,725
175,111
1.54

-

-

3,695
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22 Risk Management (continued)
Below is the Bank’s sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk as at 31 December 2020. The table shows assets and liabilities
exposed to interest rate risk grouped by different time intervals basing on interest repricing dates.
On demand
and less
than 1
month

1 to 6
months

No stated
6 to 12 More than
maturity /
months
1 year Non-interest
bearing

462,676

-

-

-

-

462,676

9,481,736

120,279

-

-

-

9,602,015

458

1,919

1,637

222

-

4,236

30,211

1,427,147

176,000

5,068,560

-

6,701,918

Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets

-

-

-

-

45,527

45,527

Right-of-Use Assets

-

-

-

-

6,548

6,548

Other Assets

2,920

17,200

-

-

338

20,458

Total assets

9,978,001

1,566,545

177,637

5,068,782

Total assets, cumulative

9,978,001

Total

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Due from Financial Institutions
Loans and Advances to Customers
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income

11,544,546 11,722,183 16,790,965

52,413 16,843,378
16,843,378

LIABILITIES

-

Due to Financial Institutions

1,415,720

-

-

-

-

1,415,720

Due to Сustomers other than individuals

8,358,760

-

-

-

-

8,358,760

26,822

-

-

-

-

26,822

Lease Liabilities

132

1,583

995

3,891

-

6,601

Other Liabilities

12,215

1,330

1,023

-

-

14,568

Total liabilities

9,813,649

2,913

2,018

3,891

-

9,822,471

Total liabilities, cumulative

9,813,649

9,816,562

9,818,580

9,822,471

9,822,471

164,352

1,563,632

175,619

5,064,891

52,413

Due to Сustomers – individuals

Absolute GAP
Gap ratio (total relative GAP, cumulative)

1.02

1.18

Sensitivity to interest rate risk

1,575

11,076

1.19
439

1.71

1.71
13,090

Sensitivity to interest rate changes is the effect of a parallel shift in all yield curves by 100 basis points on the amount of net
interest income for one year.
The analysis of interest rate risk based on the above tables is made with respect to the absolute year-end gap value. As at
31 December 2021, with the interest rate increased by 100 basis points, the effect on the net interest income for the year
amounted to 3,695 thousand rubles, and with the interest rate decreased — 3,695 thousand rubles (31 December 2020: with
the interest rate increased by 100 basis points, the effect on the net interest income for the year was 13,090 thousand rubles,
and with the interest rate decreased — 13,090 thousand rubles).
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22 Risk Management (continued)
-

Currency Risk

The Bank is exposed to currency risk, which is the risk of losses due to adverse changes in foreign exchange rates on open
positions in foreign currencies.
The Bank sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, and monitors
compliance on a daily basis.
The Bank manages currency risk on the basis of the current level of an open foreign currency position and the expected
change in the currency exchange rate of the open position with respect to the ruble. The Bank uses stress tests to analyze
sensitivity to currency risk, following two scenarios:
1. 10% change in foreign exchange rates for open positions in foreign currencies;
2. 30% change in foreign exchange rates for open positions in foreign currencies.
Testing the effects of exchange rate changes against the ruble on the Bank's financial performance and the size of its (equity)
capital is conducted on a regular basis. The results of tests conducted as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020
showed no significant impact of changes in exchange rates against the ruble.
The table below shows the general analysis of the Bank’s currency risk on the reporting date as at 31 December 2021:
Ruble

US
dollar

Euro

Other
currencies

Total

419,714

879,857

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents

139,582

303,490

17,071

10,624,461

-

-

532

-

-

-

7,324,793

-

-

- 7,324,793

60,378

-

-

-

60,378

107,653

322

-

6,420

114,395

Other Assets

12,164

313

-

9,720

22,197

Total assets

18,269,563

304,125

17,071

879,209 19,469,968

1,212,911

279,449

1,660

777,882 2,271,902
69,003 10,225,428

Due from Financial Institutions
Loans and Advances to Customers
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income
Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets
Right-of-Use Assets

443,355 11,067,816
532

LIABILITIES
Due to Financial Institutions
Due to Customers other than individuals

10,145,008

9,518

1,899

Due to Customers - individuals

17,896

-

-

-

17,896

Lease Liabilities

89,748

258

-

6,173

96,179

Other Liabilities

12,186

2

101

31

12,320

Total liabilities

11,477,749

289,227

3,660

853,089 12,623,725

6,791,814

14,898

13,411

26,120 6,846,243

Net balance sheet position
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22 Risk Management (continued)
The table below shows the general analysis of the Bank’s currency risk on the reporting date as at 31 December 2020:
Ruble

US
dollar

Euro

Other
currencies

Total

85,915

119,736

17,020

240,005

462,676

9,140,649

-

-

4,236

-

-

-

6,701,918

-

-

- 6,701,918

45,527

-

-

-

45,527

-

245

-

6,303

6,548

Other Assets

11,246

3,954

-

5,258

20,458

Total assets

15,989,491

123,935

17,020

712,932 16,843,378

657,085

92,864

1,801

663,970 1,415,720

8,329,460

8,297

832

20,171 8,358,760

26,822

-

-

-

Lease Liabilities

-

254

-

6,347

6,601

Other Liabilities

14,131

161

150

126

14,568

Total liabilities

9,027,498

101,576

2,783

690,614 9,822,471

Net balance sheet position

6,961,993

22,359

14,237

22,318 7,020,907

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Due from Financial Institutions
Loans and Advances to Customers
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income
Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets
Right-of-Use Assets

461,366 9,602,015
4,236

LIABILITIES
Due to Financial Institutions
Due to Customers other than individuals
Due to Customers - individuals

-

26,822

Operational Risk

The Bank’s system of operational risk management seeks to prevent (reduce) potential losses and reduce the possibility of
irregularities in business processes due to staff error, system malfunction and internal or external unapproved/unlawful
actions. Internal documents ensuring the ability of the Bank to continue as a going concern have been developed and are in
force.
To assess exposure to operational risk and the effectiveness of the internal control system, the Bank maintains a special
operational risk events log which records operational risk events (or significant threats), factors that caused the risk to be
realized and the amount of losses incurred (if any).
-

Compliance risk

The Bank has appointed a compliance officer, whose duties include:
- informing the Bank's employees about changes in applicable legislation;
- monitoring the Bank's approved internal documents for compliance with the requirements of applicable law, statutory
documents and the decisions of the Bank's governing bodies;
- informing the Bank’s management in a timely manner about any irregularities (shortcomings) identified and related
operational, legal and reputational risks, and of any instances of the Bank’s employees acting in breach of the law or the
Bank’s internal regulations.
To prevent risks associated with the introduction of international sanctions, procedures have been developed to analyze and
respond to the introduction/modification of sanctions.
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22 Risk Management (continued)
-

Managing risks related to payment systems and information security

Interbank settlements between the Bank’s member states are performed using automated interbank payment systems, which
comply with the key principles applied in international practice to systemically important payment systems. The risk
management criteria of such systems are established and controlled directly by central (national) banks.
The Bank has joined the payment systems of six founder states (the Republic of Armenia, the Republic of Belarus, the
Republic of Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic, the Russian Federation, and the Republic of Tajikistan). Each of the national
payment systems has its own electronic messaging format, operating algorithms and procedures. In terms of information
technology, each of the systems is a separate infrastructure: communications channels, software and information security
tools.
What is common to all the systems is the principle of using electronic signature to guarantee authenticity (integrity) and
encryption tools to protect message confidentiality. The architecture, algorithms and operating procedures, specific software
and hardware, information security measures and means and system operation regulations are determined directly by central
(national) banks, while their implementation is strictly monitored by the participants.
The Bank maintains the internal infrastructure of payment systems (software and hardware, secure communication channels)
in full compliance with the standards of central (national) banks, regularly conducts routine maintenance to keep the systems
up to date and fully compliant with these standards. This includes changing cryptographic keys regularly, updating software
and hardware versions and taking part in events to test new system versions. The Bank has a relevant expert unit responsible
for integrated information security.

23

Capital Management

In accordance with the Agreement between the Bank and the Central Bank of the Russian Federation “On the Procedure and
Rules for Banking Activities Conducted by the Interstate Bank in the Territory of the Russian Federation” dated 2 December,
1996, the Bank is not subject to the requirements of the federal laws of the Russian Federation “On the Central Bank of the
Russian Federation (the Bank of Russia)” and “On Banks and Banking Activities” in terms of provisions regarding bank
regulation and banking supervision, in particular, requirements to comply with the equity (capital) adequacy ratios.
The size and the structure of the capital are disclosed in the statement of financial position and in the statement of changes in
equity. As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Other Funds item in the structure of the Bank’s capital (equity)
includes a perpetual subordinated debt made up of converted subordinated loans. The nominal value of perpetual
subordinated loans on the conversion date was 6,155,215 thousand rubles. Perpetual subordinated loans are recorded in the
capital structure at discounted value.

24

Contingent Liabilities

Tax Legislation
Pursuant to the Agreement between the Government of the Russian Federation and the Interstate Bank on the Terms of
Presence of the Interstate Bank in the Russian Federation, dated 30 July 1996, the Bank is exempt from taxes, levies and
other mandatory charges payable in the territory of the Russian Federation.
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25

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction bet ween
market participants at the measurement date. The best evidence of fair value is the price of the financial instrument quoted on
the market.
The estimated fair value of financial instruments was calculated by the Bank based on existing market data (if available) and
appropriate valuation techniques. However, professional judgment needs to be used when interpreting market data to
determine fair value. Although the Russian Federation has been assigned investment ratings, the country’s economy is still
characterized by certain specifics typical of developing countries, and its economic conditions continue to restrict the volume
of trading on financial markets. Market quotations can be outdated or can reflect sales at low prices and thus cannot be
indicative of the fair value of financial instruments. When determining the fair value of financial instruments, the management
uses all available market data.
Financial instruments measured at fair value
As at 31 December 2021 the fair value is calculated on the basis of observable quoted active market prices (Level 1) except
financial assets for amount of 50,360 thousand rubles (31 December 2020: 512,075 thousand rubles) for which the fair value
is calculated on the basis of quoted non-active market prices (Level 2).
Financial instruments not measured at fair value but for which the fair value is disclosed
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 according to the management’s estimates, the fair value of each class of
financial assets and liabilities recognized at amortized cost (cash and cash equivalents, due from financial institutions, loans
and advances to customers, due to financial institutions, and due to customers) did not differ materially from their respective
carrying amounts.
The Bank measures the fair value of other financial assets, including trade and other receivables, as equal to the carrying
amount, considering their short-term nature.
The fair value of financial instruments is shown below:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Carrying amount

Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

7,324,793

7,324,793

6,701,918

6,701,918

879,857

879,857

462,676

462,676

11,067,816

11,067,816

9,602,015

9,602,015

532

532

4,236

4,236

22,197

22,197

20,458

20,458

19,295,195

19,295,195

16,791,303

16,791,303

2,271,902

2,271,902

1,415,720

1,415,720

10,243,324

10,243,324

8,385,582

8,385,582

12,320

12,320

14,568

14,568

12,527,546

12,527,546

9,815,870

9,815,870

Financial assets
Financial assets recognized at fair value
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income
Financial assets held for profit or for sale
Financial assets recognized at amortized cost
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Due from Financial Institutions
Loans and Advances to Customers
Other Assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost
Due to Financial Institutions
Due to Customers
Other Liabilities
Total financial liabilities
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26

Related Party Transactions

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are deemed related if one of the parties is able to control the other
party or to significantly influence the other party’s financial and operational decision-making as set forth in IFRS 24 “Related
Party Disclosures”. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship and not merely the legal form.
The Bank’s related parties are member states and key management personnel.
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Bank’s key management personnel include the management and
members of the Asset and Liabilities Management Committee, 7 persons in total. Related party states were the Bank’s
member states.
Transactions with related parties included settlements, attraction of deposits and foreign exchange transactions. These
transactions were carried out mainly at market rates (unless otherwise specified). Below are the balances at the end of the
period and income and expenses for the year under transactions with related parties.
Balances with the Bank’s member states as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, represented by their central
(national) banks which are deemed as related parties, are shown in the table below:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Cash and Cash Equivalents

512,390

261,758

Total assets

512,390

261,758

Due to Financial Institutions

1,210,380

649,583

Total liabilities

1,210,380

649,583

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Below are expenses on transactions with related parties represented by the Bank’s member states, for 2021 and 2020:

Interest expenses

2021

2020

(22,538)

(4,971)

Bank’s key management personnel
Balances with the Bank’s key management personnel as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are shown in the
table below:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Due to Customers – individual deposits

6,064

14,320

Total liabilities

6,064

14,320

LIABILITIES

Below are income and expenses on transactions with key management personnel of the Bank for 2021 and 2020:

Interest income
Compensation within Operating expenses
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2021

2020

-

3

(106,327)

(107,276)
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Effect of Estimates and Judgments on Recognized Assets and Liabilities

The Bank makes estimates in judgements that affect recognized amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year.
Estimates and judgments are based on past experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Impairment losses of loans and receivables
The Bank regularly reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment. In determining whether impairment losses need to be
recognized in the statement of profit and loss, the Bank makes professional judgements as to whether there is any objective
evidence that the estimated future cash flows for the loan portfolio will decrease before such a decrease can be identified with
an individual loan in that portfolio. Such evidence may include data indicating changes in the creditworthiness of the Bank’s
borrower and national or local economic conditions causing a reduction in the value of the Bank’s assets. The Bank uses
estimates based both on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of
impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used to
estimate the amounts and timing of cash flows are reviewed regularly in order to reduce the difference between loss
estimates and actual impairment losses.
Initial recognition of related party transactions
In the course of its operations, the Bank enters into related party transactions. In accordance with IFRS 9, financial
instruments must be initially recognized at fair value. If there is no active market for such transactions, professional judgments
are used in order to determine whether transactions are priced at market or non-market interest rates. The judgment is based
on pricing for similar types of transactions with unrelated parties and effective interest rate analysis.
Going concern principle
The Bank has prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis considering the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on its financial position.
The Bank believes that significant uncertainty due to the COVID-19 pandemic and increased volatility of Russian and global
markets might influence its going concern assessment. Due to unanticipated further change in the situation, it is currently
impossible to assess the quantitative impact of such developments on the Bank’s financial position with reliability and
accuracy.
To assess the above impact the Bank used revised data for its financial plans adjusting original forecasts.
The Bank believes that it will be able to continue as a going concern despite the significant estimation uncertainty.
Critical Judgments and Estimates
The management makes certain judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses recognized in the financial statements.
The judgements, estimates and assumptions in the financial statements, including the most significant areas of estimation
uncertainty were adjusted due to the changes in the economic environment.
The actual results could differ from judgements, estimates and assumptions, made by the management and may not coincide
with the estimated results.
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